
MINUTES OF MEETING OF THE 
CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SANFORD 

SANFORD, NORTH CAROLINA 
 
 
 The City Council met at the Sanford Municipal Center, 225 E. Weatherspoon Street, on 
Tuesday, March 3, 2009, at 7:00 P.M.  The following people were present: 
 
 Mayor Pro Tem Joseph Martin  Council Member Linwood S. Mann, Sr. 

Council Member James G. Williams  Council Member Walter H. McNeil, Jr. 
Council Member Mike Stone   Council Member Steve Brewer 

 City Attorney Susan C. Patterson  City Clerk Bonnie D. White 
City Manager Hal Hegwer       

 
Absent: 
 Mayor Cornelia P. Olive 
 Council Member Charles Taylor 
 
 Mayor Pro Tem Joseph Martin called the meeting to order.  Council Member Mike Stone              
delivered the invocation.  
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
    On motion of Council Member James Williams, seconded by Council Member Mike 
Stone, the agenda was approved.   
 
PUBLIC COMMENT – (Exhibit A) 
 Mayor Pro Tem Martin gave a summary of the rules for speaking at public comment.  
 
 Jim Womack said this was the second time he has appeared on the subject of the animal 
control ordinance, Chapter 4 specifically. He said he was appreciative of those working behind 
the scenes trying to achieve some sort of compromises/changes to the ordinance.  They have 
been trying to make some reasonable changes that could be accommodated by the City that 
would be a win-win situation for the Council and the City staff who would have to enforce it, as 
well as the citizens of Sanford.   They have made progress in a series of meetings they have had 
among the City staff and some Council Members.   Mr. Womack said he has not met with all the 
Council Members, but he is trying to get some direct feedback from each of them so they 
understand their concerns to get drafted into the code.   They would like to bring it to resolution 
no later than March 17 for a vote.   He said they plan to be at the Law and Finance Committee 
meeting on March 11.  Mr. Womack welcomed any feedback from Council Members and 
citizens and he can be reached at 770-4783. 
 
 Jenks Youngblood said he would like to address Council about the bike race planned for 
Sunday, April 26 that is on the Consent Agenda tonight.    He asked Council Members to 
postpone their decision on this item.   He presented Council with information (Exhibit B) 
regarding the street closings for the bike race.  Mr. Youngblood said the map for the race was 
drawn on January 12; it was six full weeks that this was planned and he was never told of it.   



City Council Minutes 
March 3, 2009 
 

The first information they received about it was February 23.   On this letter, there was no 
mention that it would be on the Law and Finance Committee meeting two days later, or that it 
would be on the City Council’s agenda tonight; he only found this out because he happened to 
speak to one of the Herald’s reporters.  They have not had time to discuss it and he has not had 
time to line up people to speak against it.   Mr. Youngblood said he was sort of surprised that for 
42 days they were not told about the race.  He said he did not think of the council members were 
naive enough to think that this was by accident; it was deceitful, cowardly, and shameful.  They 
knew some of them had problems with the bike race being downtown and they purposely did not 
tell them.     Mr. Youngblood said if Council would postpone the passage of the resolution, they 
would come back to the next Council meeting.  If Council will not postpone it, there are 
approximately 28 square miles in Sanford and there has got to be somewhere else the bike race 
can take place and nobody’s business gets decimated for their best day of the month. 
 
 Carol Carlson, residing at 1814 Holiday Road, spoke regarding the bike race.   She said 
she was speaking as a private citizen and as a business owner in the historical district.   She 
works with her husband who is a CPA.   Mrs. Carlson said, “I serve on the Downtown Sanford 
Board but my views expressed here tonight are mine and I am not here as a representative of 
DSI.”    She said the bike race is to take place from Steele Street to Wicker Street to Moore 
Street, down to Gordon Street in front of their office and back up Steele Street.    Through an 
open letter from Jenks Youngblood, she said knew he is opposed to the placement of the race.    
She said that Jenks and John, along with several other established businesses downtown are 
models that new businesses would do well to emulate.   It is hard in the spring through fall not to 
go by their business without wanting to stop and take a couple of photos or reminisce about days 
gone by.   Mrs. Carlson stated that they represent the ultimate small town model.  She said we 
should applaud them and many others in our downtown and do what we can to promote their 
prosperity.    Mrs. Carlson said when her husband and she moved here ten years ago, she wanted 
to locate their business downtown and be part of Sanford’s downtown future.   It is because of 
this desire that she served on the DSI board for the past several years.    She reviewed the 
mission of DSI, which is to manage the development of Downtown Sanford as a primary 
economic, cultural, and social center of the community.    She spoke of DSI’s accomplishments 
over the past ten years. Mrs. Carlson stated their dreams for downtown are only limited by 
money, volunteers, and people with great ideas.   Mrs. Carlson said she has a non-profit that is 
about bringing people and ideas together, to raise funds for at-risks families in Lee County.   It is 
not enough for someone to bring you a good idea. That person has to be able to implement it and 
prove it can be successful; that is what Dr. Parker McConville has done with this bike race.  Last 
year, it had a few kinks but they are being worked out.   The race was wonderful and seeing the 
streets filled on a Sunday afternoon was tremendous.   She had no doubt this event will grow and 
we will all figure out a way to make this happen so that it will only be a positive for the Sanford 
Antique Mall.    She said DSI wants to have a presence on Moore Street and Carthage Street. 
They want to be able to guide folks to their business as well as other businesses downtown.   She 
believed what they are doing fits within the guidelines of their mission. 
 
 Dr. Parker McConville advised that he attended the last Law and Finance Committee 
meeting last week.  They did the bike race last year and put it together over a six-week period.   
This year they are trying to make it more than a bike race; they are trying to make it a downtown 
event.  They have incorporated a 5K run as well as trying to get vendors to come downtown and 

 2



City Council Minutes 
March 3, 2009 
 

he hoped that the Temple will have a matinee that day.   They have turned it into a charity event 
of sorts on the money raised from the bike race.  The money raised will help the Temple Theatre; 
the money from the 5K run will go to a military charity – military families that have lost their 
spouses.  Any other proceeds they can give back, they will give to the greenway.   It is not his 
intention to hurt downtown.  If anything, he wants to promote it.  He said last year he had several 
people to comment to him that they have lived in Sanford all their lives and have gone out-of-
town on the weekends.  After attending the bike race, they realized there were things to do 
downtown and chose to stay in town.  He said it is not his intention in any way to deceive the 
downtown businesses.   Last year he had six weeks to plan it and this year he has eight weeks to 
plan it.   They started the plans for the bike race in February and he has not had a chance to talk 
to anybody downtown except for DSI.    He said he hoped Council did not delay the decision on 
the bike race because he needs at least eight weeks to plan it.   Dr. McConville said he would be 
more than happy to work with anybody downtown to help them promote their business through 
this and hopefully bring more people.      
 
CONSENT AGENDA 
Approval of City Council Meeting Minutes Dated February 3, 2009 – (Filed in Minute Book 71) 
 
Approval of Resolution to Temporarily Close Portions of Steele Street in Support of an Armed 
Forces Day Parade - (Exhibit C)  
 Resolution was approved to temporarily close portions of Steele Street in support of an 
Armed Forces Day Parade to be held on Saturday, May 16, 2009.    
 
Approval of Resolution to Temporarily Close Several Streets and Parking Spaces in Support of 
the Downtown Sanford Bicycle Criterium, 5K Fun Run and Spring Festival – (Exhibit D) 
 Resolution was approved to temporarily close several streets and parking spaces in 
support of the Downtown Sanford Bicycle Criterium, 5K Fun Run and Spring Festival on 
Sunday, April 26.    
 
Approval of Engagement Letter for Financial Advisor – (Exhibit E)  
 Approval to use First Southwest Company for financial advisory services for financing of 
wastewater treatment plant expansion. 
 
 The consent agenda items were approved upon motion of Council Member Steve Brewer.   
Seconded by Council Member James Williams, the motion carried unanimously. 
 
CASES FOR PUBLIC HEARING     
 
DECISIONS ON PUBLIC HEARINGS    
 
REGULAR AGENDA 
Discussion Regarding Entry Signs in the Historic Neighborhoods – (Exhibit F) 
 Community Development Director Bob Bridwell presented Council Members with 
pictures of signs for the entrance to historic districts and the new bypass.  Mr. Hegwer advised 
that the historic district signs were in this year’s budget.    Mr. Bridwell explained that staff has 
been working on this for a while, and the Historic Preservation Commission has met on the 

 3



City Council Minutes 
March 3, 2009 
 

design of the historic district signs.   In addition to the design, they also wanted to display the 
character and quality of those neighborhoods.   They finally came up with a prototype design and 
it has been submitted to a design professional.   The total installation including labor, materials, 
and the signs is approximately $12,000, which is under budget.  Council Member Stone said that 
last year, they talked about signs entering the community. He asked how the Historic 
Preservation Commission felt about this sign and their feedback.    Mr. Bridwell said the basic 
style of the sign has been reviewed by the Historic Preservation Commission and they liked the 
design.   The style of this sign will be used in the wayfarer program.   Mr. Stone thought it was 
going to be a larger style sign.  Mr. Bridwell added that it is not an insignificant sign and we are 
trying to replicate the style of the sign that will be used in the wayfarer program.    Mr. Stone 
said there is a sign like this at the old Seawell House and you never see it because it blends in.   
He wanted people to know they are in the historic district so we can continue the work that has 
been done there.  
 
 Council Member Brewer asked if they will be placed in the right-of-way.   Downtown 
Executive Director David Montgomery stated that many of the streets are on Department of 
Transportation roads.   They are looking at getting an agreement from local property owners to 
place them on their property.    Mr. Montgomery stated that the sign to the bottom of the actual 
signage is seven feet, so you are talking about an 8.5-foot sign.    He said the sign in Jonesboro 
tends to be very wordy so they just wanted the historic district’s name on it so that it is what a 
person sees when they enter a historic district.     Mr. Montgomery said this type sign blends into 
the historic district.      He said they have identified the properties to the entrance ways to all the 
districts and developed a list of those property owners.   They will be sending a letter to them 
with a sign agreement. The top part of the sign is about two-feet by two-feet.    
 
 Mr. Bridwell said with Council’s concurrence, they will proceed with this program.    He 
stated that he has also presented Council with different signs for the bypass.   These signs will be 
reviewed by various groups including Public Works and the Appearance Commission.   It will 
come back to Council. 
  
Development Report – (Exhibit G) 
 Community Development Director Bob Bridwell gave an update on development 
requests as listed on Exhibit G. 
 

 ALL EXHIBITS CONTAINED HEREIN ARE HEREBY INCORPORATED BY 
REFERENCE AND MADE A PART OF THESE MINUTES. 
 
OTHER BUSINESS 
 Mr. Bridwell advised that a representative from the State of North Carolina Brownfield 
program will be visiting the old Whitin-Roberts site.   The NC Brownfield Program and EPA are 
very pleased with what Council has done with the site. We will be proceeding with the 
Brownfield application and will be coming back to Council shortly. 
 
 Council Member Mike Stone said that we talked about future budget cuts.   He said he is 
bringing this up because Council talked about the lighting in Jonesboro versus the lighting 

 4



City Council Minutes 
March 3, 2009 
 

enhancements we are doing with the streetscape.  However, we need to look after safety.   Mr. 
Stone said it was so dark in Jonesboro he almost hit someone tonight.     
 Mr. Hegwer said one of the reasons they talked about delaying the lighting was because 
we were looking at the possibility of streetscape and the activities might conflict with some of 
the pole locations, etc.  We are still moving forward and it has not gone as quickly as he thought.   
Mr. Hegwer advised that he has a meeting set up with Progress Energy to talk about this next 
week.    
 
 Mr. Mann advised that Council should thank Allen Heckle for the work he has been 
doing at the Hallman Foundry. 
 
 Mr. Hegwer advised that Council Members will be receiving an invitation from the Lee 
County Board of Commissioners to a reception for their retreat and would like our participation.    
 
 Mr. Hegwer stated that the North Carolina League of Municipalities has a website that is 
helping the municipalities across the state with the economic stimulus package.    
 
 Mr. Stone asked what are the chances of having a round-table discussion to see what we 
can do to work better together?   Mr. Brewer said that Council has attended the County’s retreat 
several times and he would like to see the commissioners visit the 911 center.  Mr. Hegwer 
replied that maybe we can meet with them at our retreat.    Mr. Martin said that with the new 
leadership and new commissioners, maybe the chairman of the commissioners and the county 
manager can meet with the city manager and our mayor to strength our relationships.    Mr. 
Brewer added that it would be good for the commissioners and council members to visit the 
water treatment plant and wastewater treatment plant.      
 
ADJOURNMENT 
            With no further business to come before the council, the meeting was adjourned on 
motion of Council Member Steve Brewer; seconded by Council Member James Williams, the 
motion carried unanimously. 
                                       
      Respectfully submitted, 
   

___________________________________ 
      CORNELIA P. OLIVE, MAYOR 
ATTEST: 
 
____________________________________ 
BONNIE D. WHITE, CITY CLERK 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 

 5



City Council Minutes 
March 3, 2009 
 

 6

 
 


